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Precursor means a chemical sub-
stance which is not contaminated due 
to the process conditions under which 
it is manufactured, but because of its 
molecular structure, and under favor-
able process conditions, it may cause 
or aid the formation of HDDs/HDFs in 
other chemicals in which it is used as 
a feedstock or intermediate. 

QA means quality assurance. 
QC means quality control. 
Reimbursement period means the pe-

riod that begins when the data from 
the last test to be completed under this 
part for a specific chemical substance 
listed in § 766.25 is submitted to EPA, 
and ends after an amount of time equal 
to that which had been required to de-
velop that data or 5 years, whichever is 
later. 

TSCA means the Toxic Substances 
Control Act, 15 U.S.C. 2601 et seq. 

§ 766.5 Compliance. 

Any person who fails or refuses to 
comply with any aspect of this part is 
in violation of section 15 of TSCA. Sec-
tion 15(1) makes it unlawful for any 
person to fail or refuse to comply with 
any rule or order issued under section 
4. Section 15(3) makes it unlawful for 
any person to fail or refuse to submit 
information required under this part. 
Section 16 provides that a violation of 
section 15 renders a person liable to the 
United States for a civil penalty and 
possible criminal prosecution. Under 
section 17 of TSCA, the district courts 
of the United States have jurisdiction 
to restrain any violation of section 15. 

§ 766.7 Submission of information. 

All information (including letters of 
intent, protocols, data, forms, studies, 
and allegations) submitted to EPA 
under this part must bear the applica-
ble Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 
section number (e.g., § 766.20) and must 
be addressed to: Document Control Of-
fice, (7407), Information Management 
Division, Office of Polution Prevention 
and Toxics, Environmental Protection 
Agency, 1200 Pennsylvania Ave., NW., 
Washington, DC 20460, ATTN: Dioxin/ 
Furan Report. 

[52 FR 21437, June 5, 1987, as amended at 60 
FR 31922, June 19, 1995] 

§ 766.10 Test standards. 
Testing required under subpart B of 

this part must be performed using the 
protocols submitted to and reviewed by 
the EPA expert panel established under 
§ 766.28. All new data, documentation, 
records, protocols, specimens, and re-
ports generated as a result of testing 
under subpart B of this part must be 
fully developed and retained in accord-
ance with part 792 of this chapter. 
These items must be made available 
during an inspection or submitted to 
EPA upon request by EPA or its au-
thorized representative. Laboratories 
conducting testing for submission to 
EPA in response to a test rule promul-
gated under section 4 of TSCA must ad-
here to the TSCA Good Laboratory 
Practices (GLPs) published in part 792 
of this chapter. Sponsors must notify 
the laboratory that the testing is being 
conducted pursuant to TSCA section 4. 
Sponsors are also responsible for ensur-
ing that laboratories conducting the 
testing abide by the TSCA GLP stand-
ards. At the time test data are sub-
mitted, manufacturers must submit a 
certification to EPA that the labora-
tory performing the testing adhered to 
the TSCA GLPs. 

§ 766.12 Testing guidelines. 
Analytical test methods must be de-

veloped using methods equivalent to 
those described or reviewed in Guide-
lines for the Determination of 
Polyhalogenated Dibenzo-p-dioxins and 
Dibenzofurans in Commercial Products. 
Copies are available from the Director, 
Environmental Assistance Division 
(7408), Office of Pollution Prevention 
and Toxics, U.S.Environmental Protec-
tion Agency, Room E–543B, 1200 Penn-
sylvania Ave., NW., Washington, DC 
20460, Telephone: (202) 554–1404, TDD: 
(202) 544–0551. Publicly available docket 
materials are available at the address-
es in § 700.17(b)(1) and (2) of this chap-
ter. 

[60 FR 34466, July 3, 1995, as amended at 77 
FR 46292, Aug. 3, 2012] 

§ 766.14 Contents of protocols. 
Protocols should include all parts of 

the Quality Assurance Plan for Measure-
ment of Brominated or Chlorinated 
Dibenzofurans and Dibenzodioxins, as 
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stated in the Guidelines. For each 
chemical substance and each process, 
the manufacturer must submit a state-
ment of how many grades of the chem-
ical substance it produces, a justifica-
tion for selection of the specific grade 
of chemical substance for testing, spe-
cific plans for collection of samples 
from the process stream, naming the 
point of collection, the method of col-
lecting the sample, and an estimate of 
how well the samples will represent the 
material to be characterized; a descrip-
tion of how control samples (blanks) 
and HDD/HDF-reinforced control sam-
ples, or isotopically labeled compounds 
(standards) and duplicate samples will 
be handled; a description of the chem-
ical extraction and clean up procedures 
to be used; how extraction efficiency 
and measurement efficiency will be es-
tablished; and a description of instru-
ment hardware and operating condi-
tions, including type and source of col-
umns, carrier gas and flow rate, oper-
ating temperature range, and ion 
source temperature. 

§ 766.16 Developing the analytical test 
method. 

Because of the matrix differences of 
the chemicals listed for testing, no one 
method for sample selection, prepara-
tion, extraction and clean up is pre-
scribed. For analysis, High Resolution 
Gas Chromatography (HRGC) with 
High Resolution Mass Spectrometry 
(HRMS) is the method of choice, but 
other methods may be used if they can 
be demonstrated to reach the target 
LOQs as well as HRGC/HRMS. 

(a) Sample selection. The chemical 
product to be tested should be sampled 
so that the specimens collected for 
analysis are representative of the 
whole. Additional guidance for sample 
selection is provided under § 766.12. 

(b) Sample preparation. The sample 
must be mechanically homogenized 
and subsampled as necessary. Subsam-
ples must be spiked or reinforced with 
surrogate compounds or with standard 
stock solutions, and the surrogates or 
standards must be thoroughly incor-
porated by mechanical agitation. Addi-
tional guidance is provided under 
§ 766.12. 

(c) Sample extraction and cleanup. The 
spiked samples must be treated to sep-

arate the HDDs/HDFs from the sample 
matrix. Methods are reviewed in the 
Guidelines under § 766.12, but the final 
method or methods are left to the dis-
cretion of the analyst, provided the in-
strumental response of the surrogates 
meets the criteria listed in the Quality 
Assurance Plan for Measurement of 
Brominated or Chlorinated Dibenzofurans 
and Dibenzodioxins, Appendixes B and C 
of the Guidelines. Cleanup techniques 
are described in the Guidelines. These 
are chosen at the discretion of the ana-
lyst to meet the requirements of the 
chemical matrix. 

(d) Analysis. The method of choice is 
High Resolution Gas Chromatographic/ 
High Resolution Mass Spectrometric 
Determination, (HRGC/HRMS) but al-
ternate methods may be used if the 
manufacturer can demonstrate that 
the method will reach the target LOQs 
as well as HRGC/HRMS. Specific oper-
ating requirements are found in the 
Guidelines. 

§ 766.18 Method sensitivity. 
The target level of quantitation re-

quired under § 766.27 for each HDD/HDF 
congener is the level which must be at-
tempted for each resolved HRGC peak 
for that congener. For at least one 
product sample, at least two analyses 
of the same isotopically labeled HDD/ 
HDF internal calibration standards 
spiked to a final product concentration 
equal to the LOQ for that congener 
must be reproducibly extracted, 
cleaned up, and quantified to within 
±20 percent of each other. For each 
spiked product sample, the signal to 
noise ratio for the calibration standard 
peaks after complete extraction and 
cleanup must be 10:1 or greater. The re-
covery of the internal calibration 
standards in the extracted and cleaned 
up product samples must be within 50 
to 150 percent of the amount spiked, 
and the results must be corrected for 
recovery. 

Subpart B—Specific Chemical 
Testing/Reporting Requirements 

§ 766.20 Who must test. 
(a) Any person who manufactures, 

imports, or processes a chemical sub-
stance listed in § 766.25 must test that 
chemical substance and must submit 
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